JUL 121994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CHERRY COMMUNICATIONS, INCORPORATED,

Appellant,

Appeal From The Chief Deputy Clerk. Florida Public Service Commission

By_

Case No. 83,274

v.

J. TERRY DEASON, ETC., ET AL.,

Appellees.

INITIAL BRIEF

Robert L. Shevin Richard B. Simring STROOCK & STROOCK & LAVAN 3300 First Union Financial Center 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 358-9900 Michael J. Hayes NRobert W. Cushing 'Kenneth M. Sullivan GARDNER, CARTON & DOUGLAS 321 N. Clark Street, Suite 3400 Chicago, IL 60610 Telephone: (312) 644-3000 Attorneys for Cherry Communications, Incorporated

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cherry Communications, Incorporated ("Cherry" or "the Company")^{\perp} is a switchless re-seller of long distance telephone services whose corporate headquarters is located in Westchester, Illinois. (R. 478)^{\pm} Cherry is a business that is devoted to providing customers nationwide with sophisticated telecommunication services at discounted rates. (Tr. 101) In a short period of time, Cherry has established a permanent niche in the long distance service provider industry. (Tr. 316-17) Cherry is certified or authorized to provide its telecommunication services in numerous states and currently provides services to hundreds of thousands of customers nationwide. (<u>See</u> Tr. 102) Cherry's long range goal is to establish a market presence in all 50 states.

Cherry's entre into the telecommunications arena began in the summer of 1992 as a sales agent for MATRIX Telecom ("MATRIX"),^{3/} a long distance communications provider. Cherry remained as a sales agent for MATRIX until December 1992.^{4/} (Tr. 75-76)

In early 1993, Cherry formally changed its corporate name from Cherry Payment Systems, Inc. to Cherry Communications, Incorporated. (Tr. 72)

² The record is referred to as "R. ____"; the transcript of the June 18, 1993 hearing is referred to as "Tr. ____".

MATRIX neither has nor has it ever had a corporate affiliation, either direct or indirect, with Cherry. (Tr. 75)

MATRIX was certified by the State of Florida to provide interexchange telecommunications services.

Acting as sales agents for MATRIX, Cherry's employees solicited members of the public to switch their long distance telephone service from their current provider to MATRIX. (Tr. 75-76) For each switch or "PIC", Cherry's employees obtained a written letter of agency ("LOA") signed by the customer who authorized the PIC of their long distance service. (Tr. 75) Additionally, Cherry relied on MATRIX, which was obligated to confirm the LOAs using existing phone records before submitting the PICs to the local exchange carrier, to switch long distance service to MATRIX. (Tr. 78)

In the course of Cherry's sales activities for MATRIX, Cherry learned that some of its sales representatives may have engaged in improper conduct that was not known, condoned, or encouraged by Cherry management. (Tr. 78) When management learned of the improper conduct, Cherry made a firm corporate commitment to deal expeditiously and directly with all such problems. (<u>Id</u>.)

First, in December 1992, Cherry terminated its relationship with MATRIX. (Tr. 76) Cherry also dismissed the sales representatives who it believed may have engaged in improper conduct.^{5/} (Tr. 78, 87) Second, Cherry, through its attorneys, advised the FCC and other regulators in advance that complaints resulting from its employees' conduct could be forthcoming.

<u>5</u>/

-2-

Cherry has since been prosecuting employees who defrauded both the Company and its customers. (Tr. 78)

Finally, in every case where Cherry identified a customer who had been improperly switched, Cherry refunded all service charges and fees incurred as a result of the switch and the return switch.^{G'} (Tr. 90, 95-96)

On December 4, 1992, prior to terminating its relationship with MATRIX, Cherry received its Certificate to Provide Interexchange Telecommunications Services in Florida (the "Certificate"). (Tr. 93) One week later, on December 11, 1992, the Florida Public Service Commission ("PSC" or the "Commission") opened docket number 921250-TI to address complaints filed with its Division of Consumer Affairs concerning Cherry. (R. 1) The alleged complaints involved allegations that Cherry violated Florida Administrative Code Rule 25-4.118 ("Interchange Carrier Selection") by submitting "unauthorized PIC changes" -- a practice commonly referred to as "slamming."

On February 22, 1993, the PSC issued Order PSC-93-0269-FOF-TI which initiated show cause proceedings against Cherry (the "Show Cause Order"). (R. 28) The Show Cause Order required Cherry to "show cause why it should not have its Certificate canceled, or pay a fine of \$25,000." (<u>Id</u>.) The Order contained allegations of consumer complaints against Cherry for slamming

Cherry also implemented new, revised scripts for the third party verifiers, established internal affairs compliance monitors, and required employees and managers to sign employment contracts. (Tr. 81, 84-86) In addition, the Office of Vice President of Security/Regulatory Compliance was created to deal with future potential problems.

and improper marketing practices. (<u>Id</u>.) In addition, the Order alleged that Cherry had failed adequately to respond to Commission inquiries regarding consumer complaints. (<u>Id</u>.)

On March 15, 1993, Cherry timely responded to the Show Cause Order and filed its Formal Response to Order Initiating Show Cause Proceedings. (R. 40) Cherry also filed a Petition for a Formal Proceeding. (R. 35)

By Order dated April 23, 1993, (PSC-93-0640-PCO-TI) the show cause proceedings was set for hearing on June 11, 1993. (R. 326) The Commission later rescheduled the hearing for June 18, 1993. (R. 359)

On May 5, 1993, an Issues Identification Conference was held before the Commission. An Order Establishing Preliminary Issues for Hearing was entered the next day. (R. 336)

On May 17, 1993, Cherry filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Order Establishing Preliminary Issues for Hearing and to Strike Issue Numbers 1, 4, 6 and 7. (R. 348) On May 25, 1993, the Commission denied Cherry's motion. (R. 373) Subsequently, Cherry filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Commission's Order Denying Cherry's Motion for Reconsideration before the full panel. Cherry's motion was denied orally during the preliminary stages of the evidentiary hearing. (R. 386; Tr. 10-20)

On May 26, 1993, after multiple settlement conferences with the Commission's Staff, Cherry filed a Motion to Consider and

-4-

Accept Offer of Settlement. (R. 377) Cherry's Offer of Settlement provided:

- Cherry would cease doing business in Florida (i./e. stop making calls soliciting Cherry's services) for a period of four months from the date of the Order Approving the Settlement.
- During the four month period, Cherry would hire an independent, outside consultant to assist in a thorough evaluation of Cherry's system of telemarketing and to suggest and implement necessary changes to improve the system.
- 3. Cherry would pay an initial fine of \$60,000.00 and an additional fine of \$10,000.00, if no significant improvement was demonstrated for a designated period.
- The present docket would be dismissed. However, the complaints to date could be relied upon by the PSC in any future show cause proceedings.
- 5. Cherry would (through a third party) vigorously investigate and respond to all of the outstanding customer complaints and submit a Report to the Commission within sixty (60) days of the Order Approving the Settlement. For any complaints received by Cherry after the date of the Offer of Settlement, Cherry would conduct the same thorough investigation and response and submit its Report to the Commission within four months from the date of the Order Approving the Settlement.

(R. 377) On June 15, 1993, three days before the scheduled evidentiary hearing, the Commission issued Order PSC-93-0908-FOF-TI rejecting Cherry's settlement offer. (R. 420)

In preparation for the scheduled evidentiary hearing, Cherry filed a Preliminary Statement. (R. 363) In addition, Cherry filed Direct, Rebuttal and Supplemental Testimony and Exhibits of its President, Mr. David Giangreco. Finally, on June 17, 1993, the day before the scheduled evidentiary hearing, Cherry filed and properly served a Motion in Limine to exclude all hearsay testimony of the Commission's witnesses. (R. 423)

The June 18, 1993 evidentiary hearing lasted the entire day. (Tr. 1-350) During the preliminary stages of the hearing, Cherry's Motion in Limine was <u>denied</u>. (Tr. 20-57) During the hearing, Commissioners Deason, Clark and Johnson heard arguments of counsel and received evidence in the form of previously filed and live testimony and exhibits provided by both parties. (Tr. 60-345) In addition, the Commission set a briefing schedule for the parties to file post-hearing briefs. (Tr. 347)

On July 23, 1993, Cherry filed its post-hearing brief. (R. 442, 468) The Commission Staff did not file a post-hearing brief. Instead, they filed an advisory memorandum to the Commission Panel that recommended and advised the Commission to revoke Cherry's Certificate. (R. 501-A) However, the Commission Staff's advisory memorandum also contained an alternative to revocation subject to certain restrictions.^T (R. 501-A) to 502-A)

The matter was deliberated on the Commission's September 7, 1993 Agenda. On September 20, 1993, the Commission issued Order

-6-

 $[\]mathcal{I}$ This memorandum, as well as the December 20th memorandum discussed below, are included in the record of this appeal pursuant to a stipulation filed on or about June 30, 1994 with this Court.

PSC-93-1374-FOF-TI, adopting the staff attorney's primary recommendation of revocation and requiring Cherry to notify its customers accordingly (the "Revocation Order"). (R. 478)

On October 5, 1993, Cherry timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Revocation Order and an Emergency Request for Stay Pending Reconsideration and Judicial Review. (R. 517, 550)[§] On October 25, 1993, the Commission granted Cherry's emergency request for stay pending judicial review.

On December 20, 1993, the Commission staff filed a second advisory memorandum recommending that Cherry's Motion for Reconsideration be denied. (R. 563-A) On January 31, 1994, the Commission issued Order PSC-94-0115-FOF-TI denying Cherry's Motion for Reconsideration (the "Order Upon Reconsideration"). (R. 564)

This appeal followed.

On October 13, 1993, the Commission issued Amendatory Order PSC-93-1374A-FOF-TI, which is also on appeal, to reflect that Commissioner Clark participated in the decisions set forth in Order PSC-93-1374-FOF-TI and the appearances of counsel. (R. 559)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The PSC's post-adjudicatory procedure violated Cherry's due process rights because the same staff attorney who prosecuted the case against Cherry also served as the legal advisor to the Commission Panel despite the fact that the Commissioners had their own attorney, Mr. David Smith.

The Commission concedes that its staff attorney represented the Commission in two separate capacities: first as prosecutor, and then as legal advisor to the Commission Panel that decided the case. Staff counsel's dual role as prosecutor and judge, and its submission of two <u>ex parte</u> advisory memoranda (as opposed to post-trial briefs), violated Cherry's rights to a fair and impartial hearing under article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution.

The PSC also committed reversible error by admitting and relying on hearsay evidence to determine if Cherry's Certificate should be revoked. The Florida Administrative Procedure Act specifically prohibits reliance on hearsay evidence to support adjudicatory findings. The Commission presented no evidence, other than inadmissible hearsay regarding consumer complaints, to prove that Cherry engaged in "slamming."

Finally, the Commission's order revoking Cherry's Certificate is unsupported by substantial competent evidence and, in light of the record, constitutes a Draconian and unwarranted punishment.

-8-

A plain reading of the relevant authorities demonstrates that a utility's license can only be revoked if (i) the company <u>willfully</u> violated a lawful rule or order of the Commission, a provision of the Florida statutes, or the terms under which its license was originally granted, or (ii) the company no longer serves Florida's public interest. The Commission failed to meet its burden to adduce any evidence that Cherry committed a willful violation. Moreover, no competent substantial evidence was presented that Cherry does not serve Florida's public interest. Indeed, the record demonstrates that the public interest will be best served if Cherry is permitted to retain its Certificate and remain in business. Cherry provides low cost long distance telephone service to approximately 30,000 Floridians who have experienced no service problems. Cherry thus provides a valuable service and fills a necessary niche in the market.

Cherry admitted making initial mistakes. Revocation of Cherry's Certificate, however, was unwarranted in light of Cherry's immediate and aggressive remedial measures taken in response to the first and only rule to show cause, as well as the disproportionately lesser penalties imposed on larger players in the industry, including MCI and Sprint, which have been subject to show cause hearings resulting in fines, <u>not</u> revocation. The punishment in this case must be corrected to fit the alleged "crime."

-9-

ARGUMENT

I. THE PSC'S POST-ADJUDICATORY PROCEDURE VIOLATED CHERRY'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

Article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution guarantees that "[n]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law." This requirement applies to administrative agencies as well as to courts. Art. I, § 9, Fla. Const.; <u>Ridgewood Properties, Inc. v. Department of Community</u> <u>Affairs</u>, 562 So. 2d 322, 323-24 (Fla. 1990); <u>see Gibson v.</u> Berryhill, 411 U.S. 564, 579 (1973).⁹

The United States Supreme Court in <u>In re Murchison</u>, 349 U.S. 133 (1955), elaborated on the requirements of due process:

> A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process. Fairness of course requires an absence of actual bias in the trial of cases. But our system of law has always endeavored to prevent even the probability of unfairness. To this end no man can be a judge in his own case and no man is permitted to try cases where he has an interest in the outcome. That interest cannot be defined with precision. Circumstances and relationships must be considered. This Court has said, however, that "Every procedure which would offer a possible temptation to the average man as a judge . . . not to hold the balance nice, clear, and true between the State and the accused denies the latter due process of law." Such a stringent rule may sometimes bar trial by judges who have no actual bias and who would do their very best to weigh the scales of justice equally between contending parties. But

See also Ohio Bell Tel. Co. v. Public Utilities Comm'n, 301 U.S. 292, 305 (1937) ("All the more insistent is the need, when power has been bestowed freely, that the "inexorable safeguard" of a fair and open hearing be maintained in its integrity." (citation omitted)).

to perform its high function in the best way "justice must satisfy the appearance of justice."

349 U.S. at 136 (emphasis added).¹⁹ As this Court has noted, "'[a]n impartial decisionmaker is a basic constituent of minimum due process.'" <u>Ridgewood</u>, 562 So. 2d at 323 (quoting <u>Megill v.</u> <u>Board of Regents</u>, 541 F.2d 1073, 1079 (5th Cir. 1976)).

In this case, the PSC's post-adjudicatory procedure violated Cherry's due process rights because the same staff attorney who prosecuted the case against Cherry <u>also</u> served as the legal advisor to the Commission Panel (despite the fact that the Commissioner's had their own attorney). The Commission Panel thus failed to meet the "impartial decisionmaker" requirement because the PSC did not "hold the balance nice, clear, and true"

A. THE PSC CONCEDES ITS STAFF ATTORNEY'S "POST-HEARING ADVISORY ROLE"

Two final orders are at issue in this case. The first is the Revocation Order; the second is the Order Upon Reconsideration. In each instance, the same staff attorney who represented the Commission at trial as the prosecutor also prepared and submitted memoranda advising the Commission Panel how to rule. These memoranda were copied substantially <u>verbatim</u> by the Commission in drafting its final orders.

10/

Quoting <u>Tumey v. State of Ohio</u>, 273 U.S. 510, 532 (1927) and <u>Offutt v. United States</u>, 348 U.S. 11, 14 (1954).

The first memorandum, dated August 26, 1993 (the "August 26th Memorandum"), was adopted by the Commission in the Revocation Order. The second memorandum, dated December 20, 1993 (the "December 20th Memorandum"), was adopted by the Commission in the Order Upon Reconsideration. These memoranda were <u>not</u> submitted by the prosecuting attorney in his capacity as an <u>advocate</u> for the PSC; rather, they were submitted in his capacity as <u>advisor</u> to the Commission Panel. They were not proposed orders (even though they apparently were treated as such by the Commission Panel which copied them <u>verbatim</u> in drafting the final orders);¹¹⁷ they were not proposed findings of law and fact; they were not post-trial briefs.

The Commission makes no secret of its procedure.¹² Cherry contested the staff attorney's submission of the August 26th Memorandum in its motion for reconsideration of the Revocation Order. (Tr. 540-44) The basis for Cherry's objection was that the Commission had violated its own procedures because its staff attorney did not file proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, <u>see</u> Fla. Admin. Code R. 25-22.056(1)(a), and, instead,

¹¹/ The Commission Staff is not permitted to file proposed recommended orders in hearings before a panel of two or more Commissioners. Fla. Admin. Code R. 25-22.056(1)(a).

¹² The Order Upon Reconsideration states that Cherry "acknowledged" staff counsel's two roles. The statement seems to suggest that Cherry has somehow waived its due process arguments. (Tr. at 600) This characterization of Cherry's position is bizarre. In truth, Cherry has continuously <u>disputed</u> the dual role of the Commission staff; it has <u>not</u> "acknowledged" or accepted it.

filed the August 26th Memorandum which amounted to an <u>ex parte</u> proposed order in violation of Fla. Admin. Code R. 25-22.056(1)(b). (Tr. 540-44) The Commission's unsatisfactory attempt to justify its post-adjudicatory procedure is set forth in the Order Upon Reconsideration.^{13/}

> [T]o our knowledge, staff has <u>never</u> filed post hearing Proposed Findings, Conclusions of Law, or Statements of Position, in a proceeding before a Commission Panel. <u>This is because making post</u> <u>hearing filings of this sort would be funda-</u> <u>mentally inconsistent with staff's post hearing</u> <u>advisory role</u>.

> While staff is permitted to participate in proceedings as a "party" its post hearing role is advisory to the Commission. When initialing the staff recommendation to the Commission <u>the "hat"</u> which staff counsel wore (along with numerous other staff members) was that of advisory staff

. . . .

Clearly the company is dissatisfied with the varied roles of staff counsel in proceedings before the Commission. However, the role played by staff counsel in the instant proceeding is consistent with that role in every proceeding before a commission Panel.

(R. 600) (latter emphasis added) (footnote omitted).

The Commission has thus conceded that its staff attorney represented the Commission in two separate capacities, first as prosecutor, and then as legal advisor to the Commission Panel who

The Commission Panel's justification was copied verbatim from staff counsel's December 20th Memorandum. (Tr. 618-A to 619-A)

made the ultimate findings of fact and conclusions of law.^{14/} As argued below, staff counsel's dual role as prosecutor and judge, and its submission of two <u>ex parte</u> legal memoranda, violated Cherry's right to due process of law under article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution because Cherry was deprived of the right to a fair and impartial hearing.

B. THE COMMISSION IMPROPERLY COMMINGLED ITS PROSECUTORIAL AND ADJUDICATORY FUNCTIONS IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 9 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

Administrative practice and procedure envisions the combination of investigatory, prosecutorial, and administrative functions within a single administrative agency. <u>See, e.q.</u>, <u>Ridgewood</u>, 562 So. 2d at 324. This combination of functions does not, of itself, constitute a due process violation. <u>Id.</u>; <u>see</u> <u>also Withrow v. Larkin</u>, 421 U.S. 35, 58 (1975). However, courts have determined that the combination of functions may create a "risk of unfairness [that] is untolerably high" and thus violate due process. <u>Withrow v. Larkin</u>, 421 U.S. at 58; <u>see also</u> <u>Ridgewood</u>, 562 So. 2d at 324.

In this case, Cherry is not challenging the combination of investigatory, prosecutorial and adjudicatory functions within the agency of the PSC per se. Rather, Cherry is challenging the

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