IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHERRY COMMUNICATIONS, INCORPORATED,))	CASE NO.	83,274
Appellant,))		
v.)		
J. TERRY DEASON, ETC., ET AL.,)		
Appellees.)		
)		

.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

.

ROBERT D. VANDIVER General Counsel Florida Bar No. 344052

RICHARD C. BELLAK Associate General Counsel Florida Bar No. 341851

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0861 (904) 488-7464

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no inflexible measure of what due process of law requires. Under the balance of interests test, the Commission did not deprive Cherry of its right to due process of law. While Cherry certainly had a right to an unbiased hearing, the Commission also needed access to the expertise of its staff. Cherry did not demonstrate that a combination of functions designed to provide that access deprived Cherry of an unbiased hearing. A process in which the staff attorney both questions the witnesses and participates in the evaluation of evidence was held not to violate due process of law in <u>South Florida Natural Gas v. Florida Public</u> <u>Service Commission</u>, precedent which is on point.

The Commission did not concede any part of Cherry's mischaracterization of the staff attorney's post-hearing role. The staff attorney was permitted by rule, statute and this Court's precedent both to question witnesses and participate in the evaluation of evidence. The staff is not a party in interest, but represents the public interest and is responsible for preparing as complete a record as possible for presentation to the Commission.

Cherry erred factually and legally in its constitutional challenge to the Commission's process. The Commission, unlike agencies in cases cited by Cherry, allowed the staff attorney only to advise in the sense of participating in the evaluation of evidence. Advising the Commissioners in their role as hearing officers was a different task given to a different attorney from a different division within the Commission, in accord with the

requirements of due process. Cherry not only misstated the facts of what occurred, but relied on cases not on point with what the Commission actually did. This was also true as to cases in which a board delegated to a prosecutor the task of writing the board's decision. In the Commission's process, the staff could only submit recommendations. The Commission reviewed those recommendations as part of its review of the whole record. There was no delegation whatsoever to a prosecutor to decide any case. Moreover, as a matter of law, the staff attorney's recommendations were not improper <u>ex parte</u> communications. §350.042(1), Fla. Stat.

Cherry's claim that the Commission's case was solely hearsay and not proved is incorrect and misapprehends the burden of proof. The Commission had sufficient non-hearsay evidence based on an excessively high volume of customer complaints to order Cherry to show cause why its certificate should not be revoked or the Company fined. Though the show-cause proceeding provided an opportunity for Cherry to rebut the reasonable inference of, inter alia, slamming and verification rule violations which the Commission apprehended from the pattern of complaints, Cherry instead gave evidence consistent with its own presumption that the complaints were valid. Moreover, the Commission further utilized the complaints, even if hearsay, to supplement and explain admissions on the record by Cherry that customers were slammed by the willful acts of its salespeople. Cherry admitted that it was responsible for the actions of its salespeople in making sales. Therefore, the

Commission did not err in finding such willful rule violations by Cherry, even assuming the Commission did have the burden of proof.

The Commission not only based its findings of willful rule violations on competent, substantial evidence, but also properly balanced the public detriment resulting from Cherry's causation of excessive numbers of customer complaints as against the benefits derived from competition by Cherry. It is not the Court's role to reweigh that balancing.

The record demonstrates a concern to accord fair treatment to Cherry and to protect the public as well, but is devoid of any purpose to inflict draconian punishment on Cherry. The Commission's consideration was not limited to Cherry, but also toward protecting the public. The Commission could reasonably conclude that revocation of Cherry's certificate was necessary to protect the public under these facts and circumstances.

The Court should reject as contrary to precedent Cherry's request that the evidence be reweighed and the result applied to issue of revocation. Contrary to Cherry, the record the demonstrates a conspicuous lack of good faith in Cherry's treatment of Florida customers and insufficient responses to the Commissioners' attempts at the hearing to elicit signs of greater responsibility and credibility by the Company in the future conduct of its business activities. Accordingly, the Commission's orders should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COMMISSION'S POST-HEARING PROCEDURE DID NOT VIOLATE CHERRY'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

While the right to due process of law is guaranteed by both the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution, this Court has held that the manner in which due process applies varies with the character of the interests and the nature of the process involved. Hadley v. Dept. of Administration, 411 So. 2d 184, 187 (Fla. 1991); State v. Johnson, 345 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1977) (combining factseeking and judicial functions in the same office does not automatically violate due process). There is no single, inflexible test determinative of whether the requirements of due process have Dept. of Law Enforcement v. Real Property, 588 So. 2d been met. 957 (Fla. 1991), accord Matthews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 334, 96 S. Ct. 893, 902, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976). The interests of the parties and nature of the forum are relevant to the evaluation of a claim that due process has been violated.

This Court has recognized the vital importance in the administrative forum of the role of agency staff. <u>South Florida</u> <u>Natural Gas v. Florida Public Service Commission</u>, 534 So. 2d 695 (Fla. 1988). Though the agency decision-maker does not delegate the power to decide, the decision itself combines the views of the decision-maker with the technical knowledge and expertise of the agency staff. One prominent scholar of the administrative process compared it to the model of a medical clinic which, by making use

of the aptitudes of many different specialists, can provide medical services which are superior to what any individual doctor could provide. 3 K. Davis, <u>Administrative Law</u> 277-8 (2d ed. 1980).

Thus, in <u>South Florida Natural Gas</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court held that

the Commission is clearly authorized to utilize its staff to test the validity, credibility and competence of the evidence presented . . .

534 So. 2d at 698. In so holding, this Court <u>rejected</u> the utility's contention

that it was deprived of due process of law because the Commission allowed its staff <u>to</u> <u>make inquiry of utility witnesses and assist</u> <u>in evaluating the evidence</u>. [e.s.]

534 So. 2d at 697.

Though Cherry misdescribed in various ways staff's role in the hearing at issue in this appeal, it is readily apparent that the Court has already considered and rejected the identical due process challenge to staff's combined functions of <u>inquiring of utility</u> witnesses and <u>assisting in evaluating the evidence</u>. <u>South Florida</u> Natural Gas, <u>supra</u>.

The quasi-judicial role of an administrative decision-maker differs from that of a trial or appellate judge. The responsibility is not to adjudge the guilt, innocence or liability of a person or entity, but to reach a decision in the public interest. That process requires the multi-disciplined expertise and analysis of staff in an advisory role. Thus, in determining whether due process has been afforded in an administrative setting, the guaranteed rights of the individual must be balanced against the welfare of the general public. <u>Hadley</u>, <u>supra</u>. In effect, the administrative context need not match the judicial model or contain all the formalities of a judicial proceeding. <u>Hadley</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 187. The need for agencies to utilize staff to present a complete record for the decision-maker must be weighed in arriving at the appropriate balance. <u>City of Miami v. St. Joe Paper</u>, 364 So. 2d 439 (Fla. 1978). The utilization of staff to develop a record that permits discussion and consideration of a range of reasonable options is not violative of due process principles in the abstract or on the facts of this case. Nor is the impartiality of the Commission panel compromised merely because the same staff attorney both inquires of witnesses and assists in evaluating the evidence.⁷ <u>South Florida Natural Gas</u>, <u>supra</u>.

A: THE COMMISSION DOES NOT CONCEDE ANY ASPECT OF CHERRY'S INACCURATE ANALYSIS OF THE STAFF ATTORNEY'S POST-HEARING ROLE.

Cherry's revelation that the Commission "makes no secret of its procedure", Initial Brief, p. 12, is hardly surprising since that procedure is governed by rule and statute. Though Cherry objects that the Commission staff attorney did not file proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to Florida Administrative Code Rule 25-22.056(1)(a), a comparison of that rule with Rule 25-22.056(1)(b) demonstrates that the objection is

⁷ Cherry's labeling of these functions as "prosecutor" and "legal advisor" does not vitiate this Court's approval of the actual combination of functions at issue. <u>South Florida Natural</u> <u>Gas</u>, <u>supra</u>.

totally without merit. Rule 25-22.056(1)(b) states that in hearings conducted by a single Commissioner as hearing officer,

all parties <u>and staff</u> may submit proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law . . . [e.s.]

In contrast, Rule 25-22.056(1)(a), the rule applicable to the proceeding below, merely states that in hearings conducted by a panel of two or more Commissioners or the full Commission,

all parties may submit proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law . . .

The absence of the phrase "and staff" in the just-cited rule excludes the option of staff to submit proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law in hearings governed by that rule. This reflects the fact that although staff may participate "as a party", Fla. Admin. Code, R. 25-22.026(3), <u>staff is not a party in interest</u> as defined in Rule 25-22.026(1).⁸ If the rule applicable to hearings conducted by a panel were intended to include staff, it would have included the phrase "and staff", as does the rule applicable to hearings conducted by a single Commissioner as hearing officer where that result <u>was</u> intended.

Moreover, Cherry's mischaracterization of the staff's August 26, 1993 memorandum (staff recommendation) and December 20, 1993 memorandum (staff recommendation on reconsideration) as <u>ex parte</u>

⁸ Staff is not a complainant, applicant, petitioner, protestant, respondent or intervenor in procedures before the Commission. Staff's primary duty is to represent the public interest and to bring all relevant facts and issues before the Commission for its consideration. Fla. Admin. Code, R. 25-22.026(3).

legal memoranda (the former in purported violation of Fla. Admin. Code, R. 25-22.056(1)(b)), Initial Brief, p. 13-14, is incorrect as a matter of law. Under the applicable Commission <u>ex parte</u> statute,⁹ §350.042(1),

> [t]he provisions of this subsection [prohibiting such communications] <u>shall not</u> <u>apply to Commission staff</u>. [e.s.]

As a matter of law, therefore, the <u>ex parte</u> strictures imposed on the Commission by the Legislature do not apply to Commission staff. Staff provided these memoranda, not in violation of Rule 25-22.056(1)(b), as contended by Cherry, but in fulfillment of its advisory role as defined by Rule 25-22.026(3), the general principles of staff's role in administrative agencies noted earlier, pursuant to this Court's precedent in <u>South Florida</u> <u>Natural Gas</u>, <u>supra</u>, and as permitted by §350.042(1). Accordingly, Cherry's attempt to redesign these parameters of administrative law should be rejected.

Though Cherry asserts that the Commission copied staff's recommendation that Cherry's certificate be revoked "substantially verbatim", Initial Brief, p. 11, Cherry earlier admitted that staff's advisory memorandum,

also contained <u>an alternative</u> to revocation subject to certain restrictions. [e.s.]

Initial Brief, p. 6. Obviously, to the extent the Commission rejected staff's suggested alternative, it did not copy the

⁹ Moreover, this Court has held §120.66(1), Fla. Stat., to be inapplicable to Commission proceedings before a Commission panel. <u>Citizens v. Wilson</u>, 569 So. 2d 1268, 1270 (Fla. 1990).

memorandum verbatim. Instead, the Commission selected from a range of options, accepting some and rejecting others, exactly as contemplated by staff's advisory role.

The Commission denies categorically that it "conceded" anything relevant to Cherry's ungrounded theories of "prosecutors", "legal advisors", "dual role as prosecutor and judge" and submission of ex parte memoranda, as claimed in the Initial Brief, The Commission's explanation cited on p. 13 of the p. 13-14. Initial Brief as the source for the supposed "concession" contains not a single word or phrase of what Cherry claims was conceded. Clearly, Cherry's argument is not about any failure of the Commission to "hold the balance nice, clear and true" as appropriate to the administrative forum, <u>Hadley</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>City of</u> Miami, supra, but about Cherry's desperate attempt to coerce precedents which are not on point into a semblance of support for this appeal. The staff attorney's post-hearing role was precisely that contemplated by Commission rules, the principles of administrative law, this Court's cited precedent and applicable These are appropriate foundations for the Commission's statutes. activities, notwithstanding Cherry's assertions.

в. COMMISSION CONDUCTED CHERRY'S HEARING \mathbf{THE} WITHOUT VIOLATING ARTICLE I, SECTION 9 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Cherry states that it does not challenge "the combination of investigatory, prosecutorial and adjudicatory functions within the agency of the PSC <u>per se</u>." Initial Brief, p. 14. However, Cherry has cited no authority for its assumption that the Commission, even

in a show cause proceeding to revoke the certificate of a telecommunications company, has a <u>prosecutorial</u> function. The Commission believes that the record of the proceedings below indicates that staff performed its duty to "represent the public interest and see that all relevant facts and issues are clearly brought before the Commission for its consideration." Fla. Admin. Code, \dot{R} . 25-22.026(3).

Moreover, Cherry has admittedly cited "no Florida cases directly on point", Initial Brief, p. 17, and cited no cases from any jurisdiction or administrative agency which are not immediately distinguishable from this case.

Indeed, Cherry's inaccurate analysis is based on inaccurate factual assumptions. On p. 14, n. 14 of the Initial Brief, Cherry erroneously claims that David Smith, who represented the Commissioners at the hearing,

> did <u>not</u> advise the Commission on any substantive matters. All substantive advice was provided by the staff attorney who prosecuted the case, Charles Murphy.

On p. 19, n. 17 of the Initial Brief, Cherry compounds the preceding error by stating,

There is no indication that Mr. Smith, alleged counsel to the Commissioners, <u>see</u>, <u>supra</u>, note 14, <u>gave any advice</u> to the Commission panel during or after the June 18, 1993 hearing. The sole advice came from Mr. Murphy, the prosecutor. [e.s.]

The record says otherwise.¹⁰ At the outset of the hearing, Cherry's counsel sought to invoke the rule to sequester witnesses and counsel for staff objected (Tr. 5). The Commission Chairman then inquired as to whether invoking the rule was a necessary formality. (Tr. 6). Cherry's Counsel argued that the rule could be invoked in administrative proceedings generally. (Tr. p. 8) Commissioner Johnson concurred with that assertion and then said,

> Whether or not that general [Chapter] 120 rule is applicable here, <u>I would turn to our</u> <u>counsel</u> [i.e., Mr. Smith] and ask.

Tr. p. 8.

Upon the suggestion that the <u>Commission's counsel</u> should be consulted, the Chairman then asked,

Mr. Smith do you have anything to add?

Mr. Smith then replied,

I think Mr. Shevin [Cherry's counsel] has the right to invoke the rule in an administrative proceeding before the Commissioners and before the Division of Administrative Hearings.

Chairman Deason then ruled:

Very well, consider the rule invoked. [e.s.]

Tr. p. 8. As is evident, the Commission's process was not the "one-man show" found to violate due process in the cases cited by Cherry. Here, a contested issue of procedure arose with Cherry's

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